Aus dem Institut für Experimentelle Pädiatrische Endokrinologie der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

Evaluation of a Rare Glucose-Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide Receptor Variant in a Patient with Diabetes

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicinae (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Simon Friedrich Jacobi aus Frankfurt

Datum der Promotion: 04. Juni 2021

Inhaltsverzeichnis

Abstract (deutsch)	4
Abstract (englisch)	6
Manteltext	7
Introduction	7
Materials and Methods	14
Results	20
Discussion	26
Conclusion and Outlook	28
References	30
Eidesstattliche Erklärung	36
Ausführliche Anteilserklärung an der erfolgten Publikation	37
Auszug aus der Journal Summary List (ISI Web of Knowledge)	38
Druckexemplar der ausgewählten Publikation	39
Lebenslauf	53
Vollständige Publikationsliste	55
Danksagung	56

Abbildungsverzeichnis:

Figure 1: Actions of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP)	10
Figure 2: Study population selection criteria	15
Figure 3: Measuring cell surface expression with ELISA	18
Figure 4: Alpha Screen Technology measuring intracellular cAMP production	19
Figure 5: Functional characterization of the GIPR mutant Arg217Leu	23

Tabellenverzeichnis:

Table 1: Important discoveries in the incretin field in the 20th and 21st century	9
Table 2: Study population 1 characteristics	15
Table 3: Minor allele frequencies (MAF) of GIPR variants in study populations	21
Table 4: Overview of family members of the index patient	25

Abstract (deutsch)

Der nachfolgende Text entspricht dem übersetzten Abstrakt der folgenden Arbeit:

Jacobi SF, Khajavi N, Kleinau G, Teumer A, Scheerer P, Homuth G, Völzke H, Wiegand S, Kühnen P, Krude H, Gong M, Raile K, Biebermann H. Evaluation of a rare glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor variant in a patient with diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2019;21(5):1168-1176. doi:10.1111/dom.13634

"Einführung

Das glukoseabhängige insulinotrope Polypeptid (GIP) ist ein Inkretin-Hormon, welches in den K-Zellen des Magen-Darm-Traktes produziert wird. In den Zielorganen bindet GIP an seinen zugehörigen Rezeptor (GIPR). Durch Aktivierung von GIPR in den β-Zellen der Bauchspeicheldrüse wird die Insulinsekretion ins Blut verstärkt.

Genomweite Assoziationsstudien haben zuletzt die Assoziation des Einzelnukleotid-Polymorphismus (SNP) *rs1800437* im GIPR kodierenden Gen (*GIPR*) mit Adipositas und Insulinresistenz identifiziert. In der vorliegenden Studie haben wir untersucht, ob GIPR-Varianten in nach diesen Kriterien ausgesuchten Patientengruppen gehäuft auftreten und eine seltene Variante in *GIPR* funktionell charakterisiert.

Materialien und Methoden

Die kodierenden Regionen von *GIPR* wurden in 164 Kindern mit Adipositas und Insulinresistenz (Patientengruppe 1) und in 80 Kindern mit Diabetes unbekannter Genese (Patientengruppe 2) sequenziert. Zusätzlich wurde die 8320 Personen umfassende SHIP-Kohorte (Study of Health in Pomerania) auf die GIPR-Variante Arg217Leu untersucht.

Ausgewählte GIPR-Varianten wurden in COS-7-Zellen exprimiert und nach Stimulation mit GIP wurde die Produktion von cyclischem Adenosinmonophosphat (cAMP) gemessen. Die Expression des Rezeptors an der Zelloberfläche wurde durch ELISA (Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay) bestimmt. Ein Homologie-Modell von GIPR mit Arg217Leu, Wildtyp und verschiedenen GIPR-Varianten wurde erstellt, um dreidimensionale Informationen über den Rezeptor zu erhalten.

Ergebnisse

Die missense Variante Arg217Leu (rs200485112) wurde heterozygot bei einem Kind asiatischer Abstammung aus der Patientengruppe 2 identifiziert. Bei der funktionellen

Charakterisierung zeigte Arg217Leu nach Stimulation mit GIP eine reduzierte Oberflächenexpression und eine verminderte Produktion von cAMP. Das Homologie-Modell der GIPR-Struktur unterstützt die gefundenen funktionellen Ergebnisse der Variante Arg217Leu.

In der SHIP-Kohorte lag Arg217Leu nicht vor. Die Häufigkeit der anderen SNP war in den untersuchten Patientengruppen und der durchschnittlichen Bevölkerung gleich.

Fazit

Die *In-vitro*-Funktionsstudien und die Modellierung der Proteinhomologie weisen auf eine Relevanz der GIPR-Variante Arg217Leu für die Rezeptorfunktion hin. In der betroffenen Familie zeigte die heterozygote Variante von Arg217Leu eine partielle Co-Segregation mit Diabetes. Auf Grund dieser Ergebnisse gehen wir davon aus, dass GIPR-Varianten bei gestörter Glukosehomöostase eine Rolle spielen und von klinischer Relevanz bei homozygoten Patienten sein können. Die genaue Rolle der GIP/GIPR-Achse und den Einfluss von Varianten in GIPR müssen weitere Studien klären."

Abstract (englisch)

Der nachfolgende Text entspricht dem Abstrakt der folgenden Arbeit:

Jacobi SF, Khajavi N, Kleinau G, Teumer A, Scheerer P, Homuth G, Völzke H, Wiegand S, Kühnen P, Krude H, Gong M, Raile K, Biebermann H. Evaluation of a rare glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor variant in a patient with diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2019;21(5):1168-1176. doi:10.1111/dom.13634

"Aims

Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) is an incretin hormone that augments insulin secretion in pancreatic β -cells via its receptor GIPR. Recent genomewide association studies identified a single nucleotide variant (SNV) in *GIPR*, rs1800437, to be associated with obesity and insulin resistance. In the present study, we tested the hypothesis whether GIPR variants contribute to obesity and disturbed glucose homeostasis or diabetes in specific patient populations.

Materials and methods

Exon sequencing of *GIPR* was performed in 164 children with obesity and insulin resistance and in 80 children with pediatric-onset diabetes of unknown origin. The Study of Health in Pomerania (SHIP) cohort comprising 8320 adults were screened for the *GIPR* variant Arg217Leu. *GIPR* variants were expressed in COS-7 cells and cAMP production was measured upon stimulation with GIP. Cell surface expression was determined by ELISA. Protein homology modeling of the GIPR variants was performed to extract 3-dimensional information of the receptor.

Results

A heterozygous missense *GIPR* variant Arg217Leu (rs200485112) was identified in a patient of Asian ancestry. Functional characterization of Arg217Leu revealed reduced surface expression and signaling after GIP challenge. The homology model of the GIPR structure supports the observed functional relevance of Arg217Leu.

Conclusion

In vitro functional studies and protein homology modeling indicate a potential relevance for the *GIPR* variant Arg217Leu in receptor function. The heterozygous variant displayed partial co-segregation with diabetes. Based on these findings, we suggest that *GIPR* variants may play a role in disturbed glucose homeostasis and may be of clinical relevance in homozygous patients."

Manteltext

History and development of the incretins

In 1964, McIntyre and Elrick independently showed that after oral glucose challenge in humans, insulin concentrations in the blood were higher than after an intravenous injection of the same amount of glucose^{1,2}. This observation was called "incretin-effect" and attributed to a substance, that enhances insulin secretion directly in the pancreas - independent of blood sugar values. The name "incretin" was introduced a few decades before by Zunz and La Barre^{3,4} and even as early as in 1906, Moore and colleagues found that gut extracts contain a substance that lowered glucose in urine of patients with diabetes⁵. Subsequently, gastrointestinal peptide hormones were discovered and characterized: gastric inhibitory peptide (GIP) was first reported in 1970 by Brown et al.^{6,7} and glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) approximately one decade later, in 1983 by Bell et al.^{8–10}. In the following years, many actions of GIP and GLP-1 were discovered on not only pancreas and gastrointestinal tract, but also on bone, brain, adipose tissue¹¹. Initially named gastric inhibitory peptide, GIP was renamed glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide after its main biological action was clarified over the years. A brief overview of the history of incretins can be found e.g. in the reviews of Rehfeld or Creutzfeldt^{12,13}.

The promiscuous effects of GIP and GLP in different organs increased the search of the target receptors, which were discovered in the 1990s. GLP-1 receptor (GLP-1R) was first described and sequenced in 1992/1993^{14–16}. Additionally, in 1992, Gutniak et al. showed for the first time that incretins, here GLP-1, can serve as antidiabetic agents¹⁷. In 1995 the sequence of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor (GIPR) was reported by multiple groups^{18–20}. Both incretin receptors belong to the class B of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), that are described in detail below²¹. Incretin receptors are expressed amongst others in the endocrine pancreas, intestine, bone, brain, adipose tissue and many more, which explains the various effects of GIP (Figure 1) and GLP-1 action in humans. The reports on GIP/GIPR physiology and pathophysiology were controversial and until now it still remains undefined, whether GIPR agonism or antagonism is beneficial in metabolic diseases. However, GLP-1 and GLP-1R became an important drug target in the treatment of type-2 diabetes and obesity²². The first drugs developed for that pathway in the

beginning of the millennium were (1) exendin-4 (the synthetic form named exenatide), an incretin mimetic resembling GLP-1 and (2) sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitor stopping the degradation of GLP-1^{23(p1)}. Both were successfully approved as antidiabetic drugs in humans and have been successfully used ever since.

After years of mainly GLP-1/GLP-1R in the spotlight, the GIP/GIPR system again got more attention starting from 2010, when genome-wide associated studies (GWAS) showed associations of loci/single nucleotide polymorphisms in GIPR - and interestingly not GLP-1R - with obesity²⁴. Subsequently, more studies focused on variants in incretin receptors and found associations of GIPR variants with obesity and disturbed insulin resistance^{25,26}. Additionally, GIPR became a new drug target with the development of peptides being agonistic at both GLP-1R and GIPR²⁷. This trend was reflected by the number of publications on PubMed (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed) related to the GIP/GIPR field since 2009. For example, the search term "glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor" / "GIPR" achieved less than 10 results before the year 2009, but has increased considerably, which resulted in a new maximum of 34 results in the year 2019. Table 1 shows important landmarks of incretin research.

GIP

GIP is a polypeptide, consisting of 42 amino acids in its active form. Together with GLP-1, glucagon and secretin and various other peptides mainly originating from pancreas or intestine, it belongs to the secretin family of hormones. GIP is produced in K-cells of the duodenum and is released into the blood upon oral food intake, especially triggered by carbohydrates and fat^{28,29}. The highest GIP concentrations measured in blood in healthy humans are reached 30-60 minutes after food intake²⁸. In the human body, GIP is distributed via the bloodstream and acts as an endocrine hormone on multiple target organs (Figure 1). GIP in the bloodstream undergoes degradation and therefore inactivation within a few minutes, with an approximate half-life of 5 minutes¹¹. This is mainly catalyzed via the enzyme that leads to the cleavage of the active form of GIP 1-42 to GIP 3-42. In GIP target organs, its cognate receptor, GIPR, is expressed^{18–20}. The specific actions of GIP are displayed in Figure 1 and discussed in the subsequent paragraphs on 'GIP/GIPR action in metabolism' and 'GIP/GIPR action in other organs'.

8

Year	Discovery	References
1906	Gut extracts contain a substance that lower glucose in urine of patients with diabetes	5
1929	Introduction of the term "incretin"	3,4
1964	Discovery of the "incretin effect": after oral glucose challenge in humans, blood insulin concentrations were higher than after an intravenous injection of the same amount of glucose	1,2
1970	Gastric inhibitory peptide (GIP) reported	6,7
1983	Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) reported	8–10
1992	Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor (GLP-1R) was first described and sequenced	14–16
1995	Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor (GIPR) was sequenced	18–20
from 2004	Exenatide (exendin-4), a GLP-1R agonist and sitagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitor, stopping the degradation of incretins, were the first drugs targeting incretin action	23
from 2010	Reappraisal of GIPR as a potential drug target	24,27

Table 1: Important discoveries in the incretin field in the 20th and 21st century



Figure 1: Actions of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP)

Target tissues of GIP (left) and actions of GIP in selected tissues (right) in humans. Data taken from McIntosh et al.³⁰.

GIPR

GIPR belongs to the G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR). This is a superfamily of proteins that are involved in numerous hormonal signaling processes in the body. Therefore, GPCRs are an important drug target and are targeted by approximately a third of all FDA-approved drugs³¹. Together with GLP-1R, the glucagon receptor and secretin receptor and others, GIPR belongs to the family-B (secretin-receptor family) GPCR. The common characteristic of this family are seven transmembrane domains, a large amino-terminal extracellular domain being essential for ligand binding and highly conserved parts of the transmembrane helices (TM) 1 and TM 7^{21,30}.

The gene encoding GIPR (*GIPR*) is located on chromosome 19q13.3, spans 12.5 kb and embraces 14 exons^{18,19}. After transcription into a protein, it has 466 amino acids, an estimated molecular weight of approximately 59 kDa, and belongs to the glycoproteins.

The main signaling pathway after ligand binding for class B GPCR is $G\alpha_s$ /adenylyl cyclase (AC) activation which, leads to Gs protein activation and subsequently the activation of AC and to the production of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). The second messenger cAMP induces multiple subsequent signaling cascades. It (1) activates protein-kinase-A, which leads to an increased calcium influx and (2) potentiates membrane depolarization via closing of K+-channels, which also leads to

increased Ca²⁺ influx³⁰. In pancreatic β -cells, increased Ca²⁺ accumulation leads to augmented insulin secretion¹¹.

GIP/GIPR action in the pancreas and adipose tissue

The main – and also name-giving – action of GIP is its positive effect on insulin secretion in the pancreatic β -cells (Figure 1). As a prerequisite, this effect needs at least mild hyperglycemia leading to insulin secretion. Consequently, incretin action does not lead to hypoglycemia, because insulin secretion is glucose-dependent and can only be augmented by GIP and GLP-1. Besides, GIP/GIPR agonism increases β -cell mass and improves β -cell survival³². Furthermore, GIP also triggers the secretion of glucagon secretion by pancreatic α -cells³³.

Additionally, GIP acts on adipose tissue and has lipogenic as well as lipolytic effects³⁰ Previous *in vitro* studies have shown that GIP directly increases lipoprotein lipase thereby inducing fat accumulation and increasing interleukin 6 (IL-6) expression in adipose tissue. A recent publication underlined these results, showing evidence to confirm that GIP is an obesity-promoting factor under high fat diet (HFD) conditions in mice³⁴. Those findings go in line with the observation that deletion of GIPR signaling causes resistance to diet induced obesity as shown in GIPR knockout mice³⁵.

GIP/GIPR in diabetes and obesity

From early on, the GIP/GIPR system was studied mainly in patients with diabetes in order to determine the characteristics in pathophysiology and disease. In patients with type-2 diabetes, the incretin effect is reduced, partly due to defective pancreatic β -cell responsiveness to GIP. In obesity, fasting levels of GIP are normal. If there is impaired glucose tolerance, an increased GIP response to a glucose load is seen. There are, up to date, no clear causal relationships between elevated GIP, hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance in type-2 diabetes mellitus³⁰.

GIP/GIPR action in other organs

The initial name of GIP, gastric inhibitory polypeptide, was given to it due to its ability to inhibit gastric acid production in an early, *ex vivo* experimental model. This effect was later on shown to be less relevant in physiological state³⁶. GIP/GIPR, as well as GLP-1/GLP-1R, were investigated in multiple tissues and organs with suggested effects in bone, brain, gut and others (Figure 1). This is reviewed in detail by Nauck et al.³⁷.

GIP/GIPR agonism and antagonism

Over the years of GIP/GIPR research in healthy state and disease, there were recurrent hints of GIPR antagonism being beneficial for metabolic disease. *Gipr* knockout mice showed no obese or insulin resistant phenotype, but were even resistant to diet-induced obesity³⁵. In line, GIPR antagonism protects against obesity, insulin resistance, glucose intolerance and associated disturbances in high fat diet mice³⁸. On top of that, vaccination against GIP in mice showed increased energy expenditure and confirmed protection against diet-induced obesity³⁹. On the other hand, GIPR agonism was also suggested to be beneficial. GIPR agonism has been shown to have a positive impact on β -cell survival and glycemic control⁴⁰. GIP/GIPR agonism is furthermore a part of modern, dual incretin agonists^{41,42}.

These new drugs seem to be beneficial in the treatment of both obesity and diabetes²⁷. Taken together, both agonism and antagonism offer promising pathways for targeting GIPR in metabolic syndrome and its associated diseases⁴³.

Obesity in the population and in childhood

Obesity in the population in general is a worldwide problem with increasing prevalence over the last years⁴⁴. In Germany, according to the *Statistisches Bundesamt*, more than 52% of the adult population has a body mass index > 25 kg/m² and is therefore classified overweight and 16% of the population is obese with a BMI > 30 kg/m²⁴⁵. Nowadays, obesity is already a problem in early childhood and in adolescence with an increasing prevalence. In 2015 the overall prevalence for obesity in children worldwide was 5% with many countries even having a higher rate of increase in childhood obesity than in adult obesity⁴⁴. Normal body weight is up to around two thirds genetically determined, with environmental factors and lifestyle then leading to the development of overweight and obesity. Only a small percentage of obesity in childhood is due to major gene defects, as for example monogenetic mutations (e.g in the proopiomelanocortin gene *POMC*^{46,47}) or induced by drugs (steroid treatment). Independent of the cause of obesity, it is associated with a higher chance of obesity in adult life and with multiple comorbidities, such as metabolic syndrome with insulin resistance and type-2 diabetes in childhood and cardiovascular disease.

Insulin resistance and type-2 diabetes in the population and in childhood

Insulin resistance and ultimately type-2 diabetes are also an increasing health issue in the western society, often being a comorbidity of obesity. Nowadays, with an increasing

number of children being obese, more and more children also become insulin resistant or even have complete features of type-2 diabetes. Apart from that, there are intrinsic diabetes types: type-1 diabetes, caused from autoantibodies and maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY) which is caused by genetic mutations in different genes and represents the cause of diabetes in approximately 1% of patients⁴⁸.

GIPR variations and genome wide association studies (GWAS)

Up to date, several single nucleotide polymorphisms and mutations in the coding region of *GIPR* are known. Some of these mutations were shown to have a functional impact, some appear in genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and others do not have effects on receptor function or on a phenotype in a population^{27,30,49}. In 2010, Speliotes et al. showed in a GWAS a link between obesity and the *GIPR* SNP rs1800437 that leads to an exchange of glutamate to glutamine at amino acid position 354 of GIPR (Glu354Gln)²⁴. Following up these results, there were more studies showing association of the minor allele of rs1800437 with increased insulin resistance measured by HOMA-IR in children²⁵ and impaired oral glucose-tolerance test⁵⁰. Those results confirmed the relevance of genetic variations in *GIPR* for metabolic diseases.

However, up to date, the relevance of genetic aspects of GIPR is not completely clear³¹. There are no *GIPR* mutations, neither gain-of-function nor loss-of-function mutations known in humans that lead to clear phenotypes. Additionally, there are no studies investigating whether *GIPR* variants impact binding of GIP and/or GIPR agonists, which can be important for drug therapy.

Aim of our study

We investigated (1) if variants in *GIPR* in selected populations contribute to the obese phenotype and to impaired glucose homeostasis and (2) how these potential variants influence receptor function mechanistically on a molecular level.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Principles of study population selection

One approach, in order to maximize the possibility of identifying a mutation in a study population, is the selection of the study population based on a phenotype that fits the function of the gene product (study population 1). Another option is to choose a study population with a phenotype or with symptoms that are so far unexplained, and then look at the genotype of this population (study population 2, Figure 2).

In children, the impact of genetic variations on metabolism is higher than in adults, due to less time of environmental factors and lifestyle being able to impact the phenotype.

Study population 1: Obesity and insulin resistance in children

Study population 1 was chosen according to the combination of phenotypes of two important studies: (1) Speliotes et al., who found an association of a *GIPR* variant with increased BMI and (2) Sauber et al., who found an association of a *GIPR* variant with increased insulin resistance measured by HOMAR-IR (Figure 2)^{24,25}.

In adults, a body-mass index (BMI) above 25 kg/m² is considered as overweight and a BMI above 30 kg/m² as obesity. In children, however, standard deviation from the mean BMI of an age adjusted population is used to ensure an adequate classification. This BMI standard deviation score (BMI-SDS) is given in standard deviation from the average BMI represented by the 50th percentile of the age adjusted group. In this case, 95 percent of all values are between -2.0 and +2.0 standard deviations. As a cut-off we chose a BMI-SDS of +2.0, which represents approximately the 98th percentile of a general healthy population (Figure 2, Table 2). The second chosen parameter was HOMA-IR, a calculated value of fasting insulin and fasting glucose levels, which is a measurement of insulin resistance and β -cell function (Allard et al. 2003). HOMA-IR is an easily accessible parameter, as it can be measured from one blood sample. That is often beneficial in pediatric patients, in which longer diagnostic procedures can be challenging. HOMA-IR is calculated with the following formula: $HOMA - IR = \frac{fasting insulin (\frac{\mu U}{ml}) * fasting glucose(\frac{mmal}{l})}{225}$.

Additionally, we included some patients with a minimum of +1.77 BMI-SDS, which is on the ~95-96th percentile for BMI (Table 2). Study population 1 consisted of 164 children. Mean BMI was 32.67 ± 5.76 , mean BMI-SDS was +2.75 \pm 0.49, and mean HOMA-IR was 5.67 \pm 3.39 (Table 2).



Figure 2: Study population selection criteria

Study population 1 (red) included 164 patients with overweight or obesity (BMI-SDS \geq +2.0) and increased insulin resistance by a HOMA-IR \geq 2.0. Study population 2 (blue) consisted of 80 patients with pediatric-onset diabetes of unknown origin. Patients were antibody-negative and had no mutation in the MODY genes. 244 patients were screened in total for variants in *GIPR* exons. Figure and figure legend from Jacobi et al.⁵¹ Reprinted and modified with permission.

Table 2: Study population 1 characteristics

Patient study population 1 comprises 164 children with a mean age of 13.02 years (range, 5–17 years). The mean HOMA-IR of the highest obtained value during all presentations at the outpatient clinic was 5.67 (range, 2.07–32.80). The mean BMI-SDS in study population 1 was +2.75 (range, +1.77–4.20). Table and table legend from Jacobi et al.⁵¹ Reprinted and modified with permission.

n=164	Mean	Standard deviation	Median	Minimum	Maximum
Age [years]	13.02	2.34	13.18	5.68	17.76
HOMA-IR	5.67	3.39	5.00	2.07	32.80
BMI	32.67	5.76	31.99	23.30	56.90
BMI-SDS	+2.75	0.49	+2.73	+1.77	+4.20

HOMA-IR, Homeostasis Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance; BMI, Body Mass Index; BMI-SDS, Body Mass Index Standard Deviation Score.

Study population 2: Pediatric-onset diabetes of unknown origin

Study population 2 was chosen in order to have a broader approach and to increase the likelihood of finding relevant genetic variations. In study population 2, there were 80 children which had a phenotype of diabetes, without obesity being a criterium (Figure 2). The cause of diabetes was unknown in these patients. All patients underwent (1) testing for autoantibodies and (2) sequencing for known genes causing Maturity Onset Diabetes of the Young (MODY), which is a rare genetic cause of diabetes in children and adolescents. Neither autoantibodies, nor pathogenic mutations were found in study population 2.

Study of Health in Pomerania cohort (SHIP)

The analysis of the SHIP cohort was done in cooperation with A. Teumer, G. Homuth, and H. Völzke from the Department SHIP/Clinical-Epidemiological Research of the Institute for Community Medicine and the Department of Functional Genomics, Interfaculty Institute for Genetics at the University Medicine Greifswald. 8,230 individuals were screened for our *GIPR* variant of interest in SHIP, which is a population-based research project in West Pomerania, a region in northeast Germany⁵². The project consists of two independent cohorts (SHIP and SHIP-TREND), which were prospectively collected in order to assess the prevalence and incidence of common population-based diseases and their risk factors from 1997 until 2012. Details can be found in Jacobi et al.⁵¹.

Variant screening and cloning of GIPR variants

All patients of both study populations and the family members of the index patient were screened for mutations in the coding region of *GIPR* including the exon/intron boundary using automated Sanger sequencing (ABI3710xl, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The complete exons (n = 14 for *GIPR*) and \pm 20 base pairs at the beginning and ending of the exons were sequenced, with the exception of exon 1, where we started sequencing 20 base pairs before the start-codon. Primers were designed with primer3web (http://primer3.ut.ee/) and tested with DNA samples for efficiency before used for screening⁵³. To further investigate the function of the found *GIPR* variants, we used plasmids containing an expression vector encoding *GIPR*. We inserted the *GIPR* variant of interest rs200485112 Arg217Leu as well as other identified variants Ala207Val (rs1800436) and Glu354Gln (rs1800437) using Primer Extension as standard mutagenesis technique.

Cell culture and transfections

All functional assays were performed in COS-7 (<u>C</u>V-1 in <u>O</u>rigin with <u>S</u>V40 genes) cells. The COS-7 cell line does not endogenously express incretin GPCRs and is therefore convenient for determining cell surface expression of GPCRs⁵⁴. COS-7 cells originate from the kidney of the African green monkey and are CV-1 immortalized fibroblasts. The COS-7 cells are transformed with Simian Vacuolating Virus 40 (SV40) which is suitable for transfection with plasmids containing the SV40 promotor, like the used pcDps vectors of this study.

Cells for all experiments were grown in Dulbecco's modified medium (DMEM/Biochrom, Berlin, Germany) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin in a humidified 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. For cell surface expression studies, cells were seeded in 48-well plates (3.8×10^5 cells/well) and for cAMP measurements, cells were seeded in 96-well plates (1.0×10^4 cells/well). Plasmids encoding the mutant or wild-type *GIPR* (*GIPR-WT*) were transfected into the cells. Transient transfection was performed 24 h after seeding in supplement-free DMEM medium using 45 ng plasmid DNA/well and 0.45 µl MetafecteneTM/well (Biontex, Martinsried, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Cell surface expression

The cell surface expression was measured by an Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) that detects cell surface proteins, which are N-terminally tagged with a peptide derived from the Influenza hemagglutinin glycoprotein (HA) (Figure 3). Cells were transfected with plasmids and metafectene and after 48 h, cell surface expression was analyzed. Cells were then washed, fixed with paraformaldehyde, and incubated with a biotin-labeled anti-HA antibody (Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany). The bound anti-HA-biotin antibody was detected by using peroxidase-labeled streptavidin (BioLegend, London, UK). The peroxidase was used in a substrate/chromogen reaction as previously described⁵⁵. The negative control was a C-terminally FLAG-tagged melanocortin-3 receptor (MC3R) not able to bind HAantibodies. The positive control was an N-terminally HA-tagged MC3R. After first experiments, there was no detectable signal for GIPR constructs, however, the positive control showed expression. To rule out masking of the HA-tag due to the conformation of the N-terminal domain, we introduced a linker with eight additional glycine residues (GIPR-WT 8xGly), inserted directly after the HA tag in all examined GIPR variant

17

constructs. That increased flexibility and facilitated proper anti-HA-antibody binding. Subsequently, we were able to detect HA-tagged GIPR variants on the cell surface and measure cell surface expression. MC3R is highly expressed on the cell surface as shown by our group before and therefore served as positive control⁵⁶.



Figure 3: Measuring cell surface expression with ELISA

ELISA measuring HA-tags. Cells are transfected with the vectors containing the variants of interest (1). Cells express HA-tagged GIPR and are fixated (2). Biotin-labeled anti-HA-antibodies are added and bind to the HA-Tag of GIPR (3). Peroxidase-labeled Streptavidin is added and binds to biotin (4). After adding hydrogen peroxide, in a substrate chromogen-reaction the change of color is detected and cell surface expression quantified (5 and 6).

Receptor signaling measured by cAMP accumulation

cAMP accumulation was determined in wild-type GIPR and mutant GIPR transfected cells to measure Gs/adenylyl cyclase activation (Figure 4). Cells were exposed to human GIP in decadic concentrations from 1 pM to 1 µM for 40 min. Stimulation buffer contained 138 mM NaCl, 6 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl₂, 5.5 mM glucose, 20 mM HEPES, 1 mM CaCl₂, and 1 mM 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine to inhibit cAMP degradation (IBMX, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). As previously described in Fischer et al., cAMP accumulation was measured with AlphaScreen[™] technology in a competitive assay (Perkin Elmer, Life Science, Zaventem, Belgium)⁵⁵.



Figure 4: Alpha Screen Technology measuring intracellular cAMP production

COS-7 cells are transfected with the vectors containing the variants of interest (1). Cells express GIPR and are put in wells (2). Stimulation with GIP for 45 minutes in different concentrations is performed and cells accordingly produce endogenous cAMP (3). Cells are lysed and biotin-labeled cAMP and Anti-cAMP antibodies with acceptor-beads are added (4). Endogenous and biotinylated cAMP compete for binding with the acceptor-bead-lableled anti-cAMP antibody. Streptavidin with donor beads is added and binds to biotin-labeled cAMP (5). Using AlphaScreen[™] Technology, light excitation is applied by 680nm wavelength and if donor and acceptor bead are in close proximity (when biotinylated cAMP is bound to the anti-cAMP-antibody), emission can be measured (6).

Structural modeling of the inactive GIPR conformation

All structural modeling was done in cooperation with G. Kleinau (Institut für Medizinische Physik und Biophysik, Group Protein X-ray Crystallography and Signal Transduction). The protein modeling of the human GIPR in an inactive state was created using the crystal structure of the transmembrane spanning domain of the glucagon receptor (GCGR). According to the sequence alignment of human GIPR and human GCGR the amino acids of the receptor-template were substituted and side chains and loops were adjusted. All model preparations were performed using Sybyl X2.0 software (Certara, NJ, US). More detailed information can be found in Jacobi et al.⁵¹.

RESULTS

Study population 1: GIPR variants in obese and insulin-resistant children

In study population 1, we found the *GIPR v*ariants rs34125392, rs748182574, rs1800436, rs1800437, rs137944672, and rs12709891 (Table 3). No novel exonic *GIPR* variants were identified in our study population 1. Variant rs1800437, leading to, showed a similar minor allele frequency (MAF) of 0.168 in our study population 1 compared to reported global MAF 0.1611 (1000 Genomes Project⁵⁷) and 0.2019 (Exome Aggregation Consortium⁵⁸). For closer statistical separation and analysis of subgroups, the numbers of patients were not high enough. Rs1800437 (Glu354Gln) and rs1800436 (Ala207Val) were used for functional studies in subsequent experiments.

Study population 2: *GIPR* variants in patients with pediatric-onset diabetes of unknown origin

In study population 2, we identified the *GIPR* variant rs200485112, leading to the amino acid exchange Arg217Leu (Table 3). It was found heterozygous in one index patient, who is described in more detail below. To our knowledge, rs200485112 has never been detected in European cohorts, but is a known, however very rare variant in an East Asian population. In the East Asian (EAS) population, rs200485112 exhibits a MAF between 0.0198 (1000 Genomes Project) and 0.0118 (Exome Aggregation Consortium), whereas the minor allele of rs200485112 is not found in European (EUR), American (AMR), Africa (AFR), and South Asia (SAS). That leads to a global MAF of rs200485112 between 0.0009 (Exome Aggregation Consortium⁵⁸) and 0.0040 (1000 Genomes Project⁵⁷).

To date, Arg217Leu has not been further analyzed or functionally characterized in any studies. So far, there is no link or association known between the found variant Arg217Leu and obesity, insulin resistance, or diabetes.

Table 3: Minor allele frequencies (MAF) of GIPR variants in study populations

Minor allele frequencies (MAF) of study populations 1 and 2 for the found single nucleotide variants (SNV). rs200485112 (Arg217Leu), which was found heterozygous in the index patient in study population 2 (MAF = 0.0063), was not present in study population 1. rs1800437 was present in study population 1 (MAF = 0.1677) and in study population 2 (MAF = 0.2438). Table and table legend from Jacobi et al.⁵¹. Reprinted and modified with permission.

GIPR SNV (reference ID)	rs34125392	rs748182574	rs1800436	rs200485112	rs1800437	rs137944672	rs12709891
Position of variant	UTR-5'	intron 4	exon 7	exon 8	exon 12	exon 12	UTR-3'
Nucleotide (Major/minor allele)	T/-	-/AGCACTTG GCCCACTGCGCAGT ⁺	C/T	G/T	G/C	C/T	C/A
Amino acid exchanges			Ala207Val	Arg217Leu	Glu354Gln	silent mutation	
		Minor allele frequency (MAF)					
Study population 1 (n=164)	0.1951	0.0366	0.0061	n. p.	0.1677	0.0030	0.3232
Study population 2 (n=80)	0.2000	0.0188	n. p.	0.0063	0.2438	n. p.	0.3188
1000 Genomes Project	0.2428	n. a.	0.0012	0.0040	0.1611	0.0008	0.2602
Exome Aggregation Consortium	n. a.	n. a.	0.0032	0.0009	0.2019	0.0022	0.2970

n. p., minor allele not present in the study population; n. a.: not available; DIV, deletion insertion variant; UTR-3', Three prime untranslated region, UTR-5': Five prime untranslated region; [†] unknown ancestral allele.

GIPR variant Arg217Leu not present in the SHIP cohort

After finding rs200485112 in study population 2, we aimed to verify the absence of the minor allele in a German population, as stated by Exome Aggregation Consortium and 1000 Genomes Project. We analyzed the SHIP cohort, a large population-based study sample in Germany, for rs200485112. In 8,230 analyzed individuals, there was no minor allele of rs200485112 detectable. As a positive control, we also looked for the minor allele of rs1800437 (Glu354Gln), which was found at a frequency of 0.23 for the minor C allele (n = 8,229), verifying that otherwise there were *GIPR* variants present at a reasonable frequency.

Reduced cell surface expression of the GIPR variant Arg217Leu

In order to clarify the functional relevance, we investigated the cell surface expression and signaling effects of rs200485112 and other variants of interest in an overexpression cell culture model of COS-7 cells, which are established as a model for GPCR investigation^{59–61}. *GIPR*-WT and the *GIPR* variants Ala207Val, Arg217Leu, and Glu354Gln were generated by site-directed mutagenesis. COS-7 were then transfected with the different plasmids and consecutively investigated for cell surface cell surface expression (Figure 5).

At first, the positive control N-HA-MC3R (black bar) was normally detected, whereas we were not able to observe cell surface expression of GIPR-WT (Figure 5A). After introducing eight glycine residues behind the ATG start codon (GIPR WT 8xGly) to prevent possible masking of the N-HA tag, which impedes binding of antibodies to the HA-tag, we were able to properly determine GIPR-WT. Following that, all mutant constructs contained the glycine (Gly) linker mentioned above. The introduction of Gly linker to proteins is a method that increases flexibility and simpler access of antibodies to the HA-tag ⁶².

Compared to the GIPR-WT, the surface expression of our variant of interest Arg217Leu (red bar) was reduced by about 50% (Figure 5A). For the Glu354Gln mutant (blue bar) we observed a 30% decrease compared to GIPR-WT. The cell surface expression of the Ala207Val variant (green bar) was not changed.

22



Figure 5: Functional characterization of the GIPR mutant Arg217Leu

A. COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with HA-tagged GIPR-WT, Ala207Val, Arg217Leu, and Glu354GIn. A C-terminally Flag-tagged MC3R and an N-terminally HA-tagged MC3R were used as negative and positive controls, respectively. To determine GIPR cell surface expression, eight additional glycine residues were inserted directly after the HA-tag (GIPR-WT 8×Gly). Cell surface ELISA was used for determining the N-terminal HA-tagged receptors. Cell surface receptor expression of the Arg217Leu and Glu354Gln variants measured as optical density (OD) significantly decreased relative to GIPR-WT 8×Gly. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM of four independent experiments performed in triplicate. One-way ANOVA was performed to compare the statistical significance between GIPR-WT 8×Gly and three variants, *** P < 0.001; **** P < 0.0001. **B.** For determining $G\alpha_s$ signaling, COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with GIPR-WT, Ala207Val, Arg217Leu, and Glu354Gln. Cells were stimulated with GIP (decadic concentration-response curves starting from 1 µM) and cAMP accumulation was measured with the AlphaScreen technology. Cells transfected with empty vector (mock) served as a negative control. In Arg217Leu variant-transfected cells, GIP potency shifted towards a higher ligand concentration relative to the GIPR-WT. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM of four independent experiments performed in triplicates. For statistical analysis, one-way ANOVA with the Kruskal-Wallis test for GIPR-WT was performed to test against all variants at all concentrations. There was no significant difference between Ala207Val and Glu354Gln compared to GIPR-WT. Arg217Leu was observed to differ from GIPT-WT at 10⁻¹² M (* P < 0.05), at 10⁻¹¹ M, 10⁻¹⁰ M and 10⁻⁸ M (** P < 0.01), at 10⁻⁹ M (**** P < 0.0001). Concentrations of 10⁻⁷ M and 10⁻⁶ M were not significant. Figure and figure legend from Jacobi et al.⁵¹. Reprinted and modified with permission.

The GIPR variant Arg217Leu reduces $G\alpha_s$ signaling

In a next step, the functional relevance of identified *GIPR* variants was investigated. COS-7 cells were transfected with GIPR-WT and other variants of interest. COS-7 cells were stimulated with increasing concentrations of GIP and the main signaling path of GIPR, $G\alpha_s$ signaling was investigated. GIPR variant Arg217Leu reduced the signaling

capacity and, in comparison to the GIPR-WT, GIP potency shifted towards a higher EC50 concentration (EC50 GIPR-WT: 2.5×10^{-9} M compared to GIPR variant Arg217Leu: 1.2×10^{-8} M) (Figure 5B). Both GIPR variants Glu354GIn or Ala207Val showed no significant change in GIP potency or efficacy. COS-7 cells transfected with an empty vector (mock) served as a negative control and did not result in an increase of intracellular cAMP after GIP challenge.

Amino acid Arg217 is of structural importance in wild-type GIPR

In cooperation with G. Kleinau, the alignment of the amino acid sequence of GIPR over class B GPCRs and a three-dimensional model of GIPR were created to further study GIPR variants regarding their relevance for the receptor structure. At position 217, the arginine residue is highly conserved among several class B GPCRs. In the three-dimensional structure, there is a likely interaction of the side chain of Arg217, located in the transmembrane helix (TMH) 3, with the backbone of the receptor's extracellular loop (ECL) 2 via hydrogen bonding. In the variant Arg217Leu, the substituted leucine at this particular position disturbs the hydrogen bonding and therefore the stabilizing contact between ECL2 and the TMH 3. The resulting instability could negatively impact the receptor function via changing structural features of the receptor. Details can be found in Jacobi et al.⁵¹.

GIPR variant Arg217Leu index patient and family

The rare *GIPR* variant Arg217Leu was found heterozygous in our index patient (Table 4). He is a 15-year-old Chinese male initially diagnosed with diabetes at the age of 15. Upon first evaluation, he was obese (BMI, 29.8 kg/m²; Z-score, +2.14) and presented with polyuria, polydipsia, and an elevated glycated hemoglobin HbA1c of 17.1%, which is a parameter for long-term glucose blood levels. Genetic investigation of the most frequent MODY genes (*GCK*, *HNF1A*, *HNF4A*, *HNF1B*, *ABCC8*, *KCNJ11*, *INS*) showed no pathogenic mutation⁶³. To rule out type-1 diabetes, he was screened multiple times for autoantibodies, but always remained negative. Within the following months, the patient underwent treatment with insulin and managed to reduce his weight and the insulin dose was reduced, until stopping insulin therapy after a period of 18 months (BMI, 28.2 kg/m²; Z-score, +1.79). After finding the variant Arg217Leu, DNA of the family was screened for *GIPR* variant Arg217Leu. Both parents and two siblings (older brother and younger sister) were heterozygous for Arg217Leu. Other family members did not carry the minor allele (Table 4). In the screened family

members of the index patient, there was no coincidence of high HOMA-IR and the heterozygous Arg217Leu.

Table 4: Overview of family members of the index patient

The index patient (grey) with the heterozygous variant rs200485112 (Arg217Leu) is a 15-year old boy of Chinese descent. Table and table legend from Jacobi et al.⁵¹ Modified and reprinted with permission.

		Clinical data		SNV
Relationship	Diabetes	Year of birth	BMI – kg/m² (z-score)	rs200485112
Father	Yes	1961	24.2 (+0.87)	G/ T (Arg/Leu)
Mother	No	1963	24.9 (+1.19)	G/T (Arg/Leu)
Brother	No	1992	24.8 (+1.14)	G/T (Arg/Leu)
Index patient, male	Yes	1994	29.8 (+2.28)	G/T (Arg/Leu)
Sister ⁺	No	1997	17.5 (-0.82)	G/G (Arg/Arg)
Brother ⁺	No	1997	23.1 (+0.66)	G/G (Arg/Arg)
Sister	No	1998	16.0 (-1.00)	G/T (Arg/Leu)

⁺twins; major rs200485112 allele: G, minor allele: T.

New results of our study

- (1) The rare *GIPR* variant rs200485112 leading to the amino acid changes Arg217Leu was identified in one of our patients. This variant has never been functionally characterized.
- (2) Functional data showed a reduced cell surface expression for Arg217Leu and reduced Gα_S signaling. That was supported by protein modeling of GIPR and introduction of Arg217Leu, which is at a highly conserved amino acid sequence important for receptor structure and function.
- (3) We here found evidence that rare variants in the GIPR gene might predispose for disturbed glucose tolerance.

DISCUSSION

No new GIPR variants were detected in study population 1

In study population 1, which we selected based on both previously reported phenotypes that showed association with *GIPR* variants, namely obesity and increased HOMA-IR^{24–26} no variants in addition to the already known ones were identified (Table 3). This could be due to various reasons, (1) possibly the study population was not big enough to find – potentially very rare – variants in *GIPR*; (2) due to the fact that even though Sauber et al. showed no association with obesity but only HOMA-IR, insulin resistance could be caused by obesity and therefore the chances to find variants are not increased by combining both phenotypes; (3) variants in the GIPR gene that are not located in exons, but in introns, influencing e.g. RNA splicing.

Activating or inactivating mutations in GIPR

In line with the arguments for both GIPR agonism or antagonism being beneficial for metabolic disease, it is difficult to define whether a variant in GIPR leads to decreased or increased GIPR activity. The *GIPR* variant Glu354GIn was identified as resulting in reduced GIPR activity and could therefore potentially lead to decreased glucose-dependent insulin secretion^{25,26,49}. We would have expected a loss-of-function rather than a gain-of-function mutation in study population 1. In contrast, there are several studies suggesting, that inhibition of GIPR signaling could be beneficial in obesity prevention under e.g. high fat diet^{35,38,39}. Accordingly, glucose homeostasis or obesity could be positively influenced by loss-of-function mutations. Gain-of-function mutations on the other hand are less frequent and could be masked in the case of GIPR. A gain-of-function phenotype in GIPR would potentially lead to concealed increased insulin secretion, because GIPR-dependent insulin secretion is only augmented dependent of glucose. Comparable to incretin mimetics used in drug therapy, no hypoglycemia as a key symptom would be present.

Since the discovery of the incretin effect, there have been efforts to target incretin receptors, especially as they have the pronounced benefit of not causing hypoglycemia (Table 1). In the case of GLP-1/GLP-1R, this was successful with the development of numerous compounds which made their way into clinical practice. With GIP/GIPR, so far there is no mono agonist or antagonist in clinical use. However, there are for some years now unimolecular compounds targeting both GIPR and GLP1R, so-called dual incretins^{41,64}. Additionally, there has been the idea to combine also a agonistic part of

glucagon receptor in addition to both incretin receptors, so called triagonists^{42,65}. All these compounds showed a promising effect on metabolic diseases, superior to the one seen for single receptor agonism, as e.g. in GLP-1R agonists⁴². When developing new incretin drugs, the numerous effects of GIP/GIPR in tissues have to be taken into consideration.

The GIPR variant Arg217Leu has a negative impact on receptor function

We described partial functional inactivation of the GIPR variant Arg271Leu. This is in contrast to the well-investigated GIPR variant Glu354Gln (rs1800437), which did not demonstrate an effect on GIP-induced cAMP accumulation in the COS-7 cell system used in this study, although cell surface expression was shown to be reduced⁴⁹. To our knowledge, a structural integration of the amino acid exchange Glu354Gln on a protein level could help explain this discrepancy of strong association with the phenotype shown in GWAS^{24–26}, but mild functional impact *in vitro*^{49,51}. In 2017, Zhang et al. published the resolved cryo-electron microscopy structure of the ligand-activated GLP-1R in 2017⁶⁶. Due to the similarity of GLP-1R and GIPR, this first structure of a class B GPCR bound to its ligand could be used in the future to help modeling GIPR in more detail and increase the three-dimensional structural understanding, binding and signaling of the receptor.

Functional data and phenotype of the index patient and his family

The index family was of Chinese descent. Arg217Leu (rs200485112) is described to be rare in China with a minor allele frequency of 0.00179 in the large cohort of South Asian Genomes and Exomes (SAGE). That was due to one single individual, heterozygous for Arg217Leu⁶⁷. No homozygous carrier of Arg217Leu has yet been described. This might be explained by the rarity or by an incompatibility of homozygous Arg271Leu with life. However, to date, that remains speculative, as even complete knockout of GIPR in mice is not lethal³⁵.

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

For numerous years, the GLP-1/GLP-1R system was in the spotlight of incretin research, as it continues to serve as a target for effective drug therapy for metabolic diseases. GIP and GIPR have recently regained attention in drug research for obesity and type 2 diabetes²⁷. Our study shows for the first time a potential functional association between the *GIPR* variant Arg217Leu and impaired GIPR signaling, displayed through functional data *in vitro* combined with protein homology modeling. *GIPR* variants might predispose to obesity and insulin resistance, but to which degree remains unclear to date. Our present study aimed to investigate study populations regarding their genetic variants in GIPR and study found variants regarding their potential impact on receptor function. Further studies are needed to place the results in a context:

- (1) The investigation of larger study populations, comparable to the SHIP project, especially in the Asian population, could lead to a reliable prevalence of Arg217Leu in GIPR. If the total number of minor alleles of Arg217Leu is higher, association studies with BMI and HOMA-IR are feasible. In extended studies, potential homozygotic patients could be found and phenotyped. Interestingly, both parents in our index family were heterozygous carriers, but none of the five offspring was homozygous for Arg217Leu, which can be coincidence or a hint for a possible negative impact of homozygous Arg217Leu in e.g. development.
- (2) The integration of all GIPR variants discovered so far into a three-dimensional receptor model could lead to a better understanding of the relevance of specific genetic variations. Combined with functional data from cell culture studies regarding signaling, surface expression, and ligand binding and phenotype characteristics of association studies, these models could help to increase the translation from judging a variation purely as an amino acid change in DNA up to clinical relevance. All data input could via constant reapproval and adjustment increase the integrity of the model.
- (3) It was shown that GIPR and GLP-1R are able to form dimers, meaning two receptors – of two times the same protein or two different receptors – interact and thereby might lead to changed receptor functionality⁶⁸. This effect called homo- and heterodimerization might play an important role in

(patho)physiology of GPCRs. Heterozygous variants in *GIPR* could be compensated via that mechanism by the *GIPR* wild-type allele and by GLP-1R. Additionally, a non-functional GIPR receptor could also exert a negative effect on other, per se functional, receptor proteins. These problems should be further examined, to better understand if genetic variants in different receptors – in our case the incretin receptors – could add up to show functional relevance.

REFERENCES

- 1. Mcintyre N, Holdsworth CD, Turner DS. NEW INTERPRETATION OF ORAL GLUCOSE TOLERANCE. *Lancet.* 1964;2(7349):20-21. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(64)90011-x
- 2. Elrick H, Stimmler L, Hlad CJ, Árai Y. PLASMA INSULIN RESPONSE TO ORAL AND INTRAVENOUS GLUCOSE ADMINISTRATION. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1964;24:1076-1082. doi:10.1210/jcem-24-10-1076
- 3. Zunz E, La Barre J. Contributiona a l'etude des variations physiologiques de la secretion interne du pancreas: relations entre les secretions externe et interne du pancreas. *Archives Internationales de Physiologie*. 1929;31:162-179.
- 4. Barre JL, Still EU. Studies on the physiology of secretin. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content.* 1930;91(2):649-653. doi:10.1152/ajplegacy.1930.91.2.649
- 5. Moore B. On the treatment of Diabetus mellitus by acid extract of Duodenal Mucous Membrane. *Biochem J.* 1906;1(1):28-38. doi:10.1042/bj0010028
- 6. Brown JC, Mutt V, Pederson RA. Further purification of a polypeptide demonstrating enterogastrone activity. *J Physiol (Lond)*. 1970;209(1):57-64. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009155
- 7. Brown JC, Dryburgh JR. A gastric inhibitory polypeptide. II. The complete amino acid sequence. *Can J Biochem.* 1971;49(8):867-872.
- 8. Bell GI, Santerre RF, Mullenbach GT. Hamster preproglucagon contains the sequence of glucagon and two related peptides. *Nature*. 1983;302(5910):716-718. doi:10.1038/302716a0
- 9. Bell GI, Sanchez-Pescador R, Laybourn PJ, Najarian RC. Exon duplication and divergence in the human preproglucagon gene. *Nature*. 1983;304(5924):368-371. doi:10.1038/304368a0
- 10. Orskov C, Bersani M, Johnsen AH, Højrup P, Holst JJ. Complete sequences of glucagon-like peptide-1 from human and pig small intestine. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264(22):12826-12829.
- Yabe D, Seino Y. Two incretin hormones GLP-1 and GIP: Comparison of their actions in insulin secretion and β cell preservation. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*. 2011;107(2):248-256. doi:10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2011.07.010
- 12. Rehfeld JF. The Origin and Understanding of the Incretin Concept. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2018;9. doi:10.3389/fendo.2018.00387
- 13. Creutzfeldt W. The [pre-] history of the incretin concept. *Regul Pept.* 2005;128(2):87-91. doi:10.1016/j.regpep.2004.08.004
- 14. Thorens B. Expression cloning of the pancreatic beta cell receptor for the gluco-incretin hormone glucagon-like peptide 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1992;89(18):8641-8645. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.18.8641
- 15. Dillon JS, Tanizawa Y, Wheeler MB, Leng XH, Ligon BB, Rabin DU, Yoo-Warren H, Permutt MA, Boyd AE. Cloning and functional expression of the human glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor. *Endocrinology*. 1993;133(4):1907-1910. doi:10.1210/endo.133.4.8404634
- Stoffel M, Espinosa R, Le Beau MM, Bell GI. Human glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor gene. Localization to chromosome band 6p21 by fluorescence in situ hybridization and linkage of a highly polymorphic simple tandem repeat DNA polymorphism to other markers on chromosome 6. *Diabetes*. 1993;42(8):1215-1218. doi:10.2337/diab.42.8.1215
- 17. Gutniak M, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Ahrén B, Efendic S. Antidiabetogenic effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36)amide in normal subjects and patients with diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med.* 1992;326(20):1316-1322. doi:10.1056/NEJM199205143262003
- Gremlich S, Porret A, Hani EH, Cherif D, Vionnet N, Froguel P, Thorens B. Cloning, functional expression, and chromosomal localization of the human pancreatic islet glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor. *Diabetes*. 1995;44(10):1202-1208. doi:10.2337/diab.44.10.1202
- 19. Yamada Y, Hayami T, Nakamura K, Kaisaki PJ, Someya Y, Wang CZ, Seino S, Seino Y. Human gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor: cloning of the gene (GIPR) and cDNA. *Genomics*. 1995;29(3):773-776. doi:10.1006/geno.1995.9937
- 20. Wheeler MB, Gelling RW, McIntosh CH, Georgiou J, Brown JC, Pederson RA. Functional expression of the rat pancreatic islet glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor: ligand binding and intracellular signaling properties. *Endocrinology*. 1995;136(10):4629-4639. doi:10.1210/endo.136.10.7664683
- 21. Harmar AJ. Family-B G-protein-coupled receptors. *Genome Biol.* 2001;2(12):REVIEWS3013.
- 22. Ahrén B. Islet G protein-coupled receptors as potential targets for treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* 2009;8(5):369-385. doi:10.1038/nrd2782
- 23. Ahrén B. GLP-1-based therapy of type 2 diabetes: GLP-1 mimetics and DPP-IV inhibitors. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2007;7(5):340-347. doi:10.1007/s11892-007-0056-9

- 24. Speliotes EK, Willer CJ, Berndt SI, Monda KL, Thorleifsson G, Jackson AU, Allen HL, Lindgren CM, Luan J, Mägi R, Randall JC, Vedantam S, Winkler TW, Qi L, Workalemahu T, Heid IM, Steinthorsdottir V, Stringham HM, Weedon MN, Wheeler E, Wood AR, Ferreira T, Weyant RJ, Segré AV, Estrada K, Liang L, Nemesh J, Park J-H, Gustafsson S, Kilpeläinen TO, Yang J, Bouatia-Naji N, Esko T, Feitosa MF, Kutalik Z, Mangino M, Raychaudhuri S, Scherag A, Smith AV, Welch R, Zhao JH, Aben KK, Absher DM, Amin N, Dixon AL, Fisher E, Glazer NL, Goddard ME, Heard-Costa NL, Hoesel V, Hottenga J-J, Johansson Å, Johnson T, Ketkar S, Lamina C, Li S, Moffatt MF, Myers RH, Narisu N, Perry JRB, Peters MJ, Preuss M, Ripatti S, Rivadeneira F, Sandholt C, Scott LJ, Timpson NJ, Tyrer JP, van Wingerden S, Watanabe RM, White CC, Wiklund F, Barlassina C, Chasman DI, Cooper MN, Jansson J-O, Lawrence RW, Pellikka N, Prokopenko I, Shi J, Thiering E, Alavere H, Alibrandi MTS, Almgren P, Arnold AM, Aspelund T, Atwood LD, Balkau B, Balmforth AJ, Bennett AJ, Ben-Shlomo Y, Bergman RN, Bergmann S, Biebermann H, Blakemore AIF, Boes T, Bonnycastle LL, Bornstein SR, Brown MJ, Buchanan TA, Busonero F, Campbell H, Cappuccio FP, Cavalcanti-Proença C, Chen Y-DI, Chen C-M, Chines PS, Clarke R, Coin L, Connell J, Day INM, den Heijer M, Duan J, Ebrahim S, Elliott P, Elosua R, Eiriksdottir G, Erdos MR, Eriksson JG, Facheris MF, Felix SB, Fischer-Posovszky P, Folsom AR, Friedrich N, Freimer NB, Fu M, Gaget S, Gejman PV, Geus EJC, Gieger C, Gjesing AP, Goel A, Goyette P, Grallert H, Gräßler J, Greenawalt DM, Groves CJ, Gudnason V, Guiducci C, Hartikainen A-L, Hassanali N, Hall AS, Havulinna AS, Hayward C, Heath AC, Hengstenberg C, Hicks AA, Hinney A, Hofman A, Homuth G, Hui J, Igl W, Iribarren C, Isomaa B, Jacobs KB, Jarick I, Jewell E, John U. Jørgensen T, Jousilahti P, Jula A, Kaakinen M, Kajantie E, Kaplan LM, Kathiresan S, Kettunen J, Kinnunen L, Knowles JW, Kolcic I, König IR, Koskinen S, Kovacs P, Kuusisto J, Kraft P, Kvaløy K, Laitinen J, Lantieri O, Lanzani C, Launer LJ, Lecoeur C, Lehtimäki T, Lettre G, Liu J, Lokki M-L, Lorentzon M, Luben RN, Ludwig B, Manunta P, Marek D, Marre M, Martin NG, McArdle WL, McCarthy A, McKnight B, Meitinger T, Melander O, Meyre D, Midthjell K, Montgomery GW, Morken MA, Morris AP, Mulic R, Ngwa JS, Nelis M, Neville MJ, Nyholt DR, O'Donnell CJ, O'Rahilly S, Ong KK, Oostra B, Paré G, Parker AN, Perola M, Pichler I, Pietiläinen KH, Platou CGP, Polasek O, Pouta A, Rafelt S, Raitakari O, Rayner NW, Ridderstråle M, Rief W, Ruokonen A, Robertson NR, Rzehak P, Salomaa V, Sanders AR, Sandhu MS, Sanna S, Saramies J, Savolainen MJ, Scherag S, Schipf S, Schreiber S, Schunkert H, Silander K, Sinisalo J, Siscovick DS, Smit JH, Soranzo N, Sovio U, Stephens J, Surakka I, Swift AJ, Tammesoo M-L, Tardif J-C, Teder-Laving M, Teslovich TM, Thompson JR, Thomson B, Tönjes A, Tuomi T, van Meurs JBJ, van Ommen G-J, Vatin V, Viikari J, Visvikis-Siest S, Vitart V, Vogel CIG, Voight BF, Waite LL, Wallaschofski H, Walters GB, Widen E, Wiegand S, Wild SH, Willemsen G, Witte DR, Witteman JC, Xu J, Zhang Q, Zgaga L, Ziegler A, Zitting P, Beilby JP, Farooqi IS, Hebebrand J, Huikuri HV, James AL, Kähönen M, Levinson DF, Macciardi F, Nieminen MS, Ohlsson C, Palmer LJ, Ridker PM, Stumvoll M, Beckmann JS, Boeing H, Boerwinkle E, Boomsma DI, Caulfield MJ, Chanock SJ, Collins FS, Cupples LA, Smith GD, Erdmann J, Froguel P, Grönberg H, Gyllensten U, Hall P, Hansen T, Harris TB, Hattersley AT, Hayes RB, Heinrich J, Hu FB, Hveem K, Illig T, Jarvelin M-R, Kaprio J, Karpe F, Khaw K-T, Kiemeney LA, Krude H, Laakso M, Lawlor DA, Metspalu A, Munroe PB, Ouwehand WH, Pedersen O, Penninx BW, Peters A, Pramstaller PP, Quertermous T, Reinehr T, Rissanen A, Rudan I, Samani NJ, Schwarz PEH, Shuldiner AR, Spector TD, Tuomilehto J, Uda M, Uitterlinden A, Valle TT, Wabitsch M, Waeber G, Wareham NJ, Watkins H, Wilson JF, Wright AF, Zillikens MC, Chatterjee N, McCarroll SA, Purcell S, Schadt EE, Visscher PM, Assimes TL, Borecki IB, Deloukas P, Fox CS, Groop LC, Haritunians T, Hunter DJ, Kaplan RC, Mohlke KL, O'Connell JR, Peltonen L, Schlessinger D, Strachan DP, van Duijn CM, Wichmann H-E, Frayling TM, Thorsteinsdottir U, Abecasis GR, Barroso I, Boehnke M, Stefansson K, North KE, McCarthy MI, Hirschhorn JN, Ingelsson E, Loos RJF. Association analyses of 249,796 individuals reveal eighteen new loci associated with body mass index. Nat Genet. 2010;42(11):937-948. doi:10.1038/ng.686
- 25. Sauber J, Grothe J, Behm M, Scherag A, Grallert H, Illig T, Hinney A, Hebebrand J, Wiegand S, Grüters A, Krude H, Biebermann H. Association of variants in gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor gene with impaired glucose homeostasis in obese children and adolescents from Berlin. *Eur J Endocrinol.* 2010;163(2):259-264. doi:10.1530/EJE-10-0444
- 26. Vogel CIG, Scherag A, Brönner G, Nguyen TT, Wang H-J, Grallert H, Bornhorst A, Rosskopf D, Völzke H, Reinehr T, Rief W, Illig T, Wichmann H-E, Schäfer H, Hebebrand J, Hinney A. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor: association analyses for obesity of several polymorphisms in large study groups. *BMC Med Genet.* 2009;10:19. doi:10.1186/1471-2350-10-19
- 27. Finan B, Müller TD, Clemmensen C, Perez-Tilve D, DiMarchi RD, Tschöp MH. Reappraisal of GIP Pharmacology for Metabolic Diseases. *Trends Mol Med.* 2016;22(5):359-376. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2016.03.005

- 28. Vollmer K, Holst JJ, Baller B, Ellrichmann M, Nauck MA, Schmidt WE, Meier JJ. Predictors of incretin concentrations in subjects with normal, impaired, and diabetic glucose tolerance. *Diabetes*. 2008;57(3):678-687. doi:10.2337/db07-1124
- 29. Yamane S, Harada N, Hamasaki A, Muraoka A, Joo E, Suzuki K, Nasteska D, Tanaka D, Ogura M, Harashima S-I, Inagaki N. Effects of glucose and meal ingestion on incretin secretion in Japanese subjects with normal glucose tolerance. *J Diabetes Investig.* 2012;3(1):80-85. doi:10.1111/j.2040-1124.2011.00143.x
- McIntosh CHS, Widenmaier S, Kim S. Chapter 15 Glucose-Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide (Gastric Inhibitory Polypeptide; GIP). In: *Vitamins & Hormones*. Vol 80. Insulin and IGFs. Academic Press; 2009:409-471. doi:10.1016/S0083-6729(08)00615-8
- 31. Hauser AS, Chavali S, Masuho I, Jahn LJ, Martemyanov KA, Gloriam DE, Babu MM. Pharmacogenomics of GPCR Drug Targets. *Cell*. 2018;172(1-2):41-54.e19. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.033
- 32. Drucker DJ. The biology of incretin hormones. *Cell Metab.* 2006;3(3):153-165. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2006.01.004
- 33. Meier JJ, Gallwitz B, Siepmann N, Holst JJ, Deacon CF, Schmidt WE, Nauck MA. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) dose-dependently stimulates glucagon secretion in healthy human subjects at euglycaemia. *Diabetologia*. 2003;46(6):798-801. doi:10.1007/s00125-003-1103-y
- 34. Yamane S, Harada N. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide/glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide signaling in adipose tissue. *J Diabetes Investig.* 2019;10(1):3-5. doi:10.1111/jdi.12942
- 35. Miyawaki K, Yamada Y, Ban N, Ihara Y, Tsukiyama K, Zhou H, Fujimoto S, Oku A, Tsuda K, Toyokuni S, Hiai H, Mizunoya W, Fushiki T, Holst JJ, Makino M, Tashita A, Kobara Y, Tsubamoto Y, Jinnouchi T, Jomori T, Seino Y. Inhibition of gastric inhibitory polypeptide signaling prevents obesity. *Nat Med.* 2002;8(7):738-742. doi:10.1038/nm727
- Maxwell V, Shulkes A, Brown JC, Solomon TE, Walsh JH, Grossman MI. Effect of gastric inhibitory polypeptide on pentagastrin-stimulated acid secretion in man. *Dig Dis Sci.* 1980;25(2):113-116. doi:10.1007/bf01308308
- 37. Nauck MA, Meier JJ. Incretin hormones: Their role in health and disease. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism.* 2018;20(S1):5-21. doi:10.1111/dom.13129
- 38. Gault VA, McClean PL, Cassidy RS, Irwin N, Flatt PR. Chemical gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor antagonism protects against obesity, insulin resistance, glucose intolerance and associated disturbances in mice fed high-fat and cafeteria diets. *Diabetologia*. 2007;50(8):1752-1762. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0710-4
- 39. Fulurija A, Lutz TA, Sladko K, Osto M, Wielinga PY, Bachmann MF, Saudan P. Vaccination against GIP for the treatment of obesity. *PLoS ONE*. 2008;3(9):e3163. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003163
- Widenmaier SB, Kim S-J, Yang GK, De Los Reyes T, Nian C, Asadi A, Seino Y, Kieffer TJ, Kwok YN, McIntosh CHS. A GIP receptor agonist exhibits beta-cell anti-apoptotic actions in rat models of diabetes resulting in improved beta-cell function and glycemic control. *PLoS ONE*. 2010;5(3):e9590. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009590
- 41. Finan B, Ma T, Ottaway N, Müller TD, Habegger KM, Heppner KM, Kirchner H, Holland J, Hembree J, Raver C, Lockie SH, Smiley DL, Gelfanov V, Yang B, Hofmann S, Bruemmer D, Drucker DJ, Pfluger PT, Perez-Tilve D, Gidda J, Vignati L, Zhang L, Hauptman JB, Lau M, Brecheisen M, Uhles S, Riboulet W, Hainaut E, Sebokova E, Conde-Knape K, Konkar A, DiMarchi RD, Tschöp MH. Unimolecular dual incretins maximize metabolic benefits in rodents, monkeys, and humans. *Sci Transl Med.* 2013;5(209):209ra151. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3007218
- 42. Tschöp MH, Finan B, Clemmensen C, Gelfanov V, Perez-Tilve D, Müller TD, DiMarchi RD. Unimolecular Polypharmacy for Treatment of Diabetes and Obesity. *Cell Metab.* 2016;24(1):51-62. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2016.06.021
- 43. Killion EA, Lu S-C, Fort M, Yamada Y, Véniant MM, Lloyd DJ. Glucose-Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide Receptor Therapies For The Treatment Of Obesity, Do Agonists = Antagonists? *Endocr Rev.* September 2019. doi:10.1210/endrev/bnz002
- 44. GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, Estep K, Lee A, Marczak L, Mokdad AH, Moradi-Lakeh M, Naghavi M, Salama JS, Vos T, Abate KH, Abbafati C, Ahmed MB, Al-Aly Z, Alkerwi A, Al-Raddadi R, Amare AT, Amberbir A, Amegah AK, Amini E, Amrock SM, Anjana RM, Ärnlöv J, Asayesh H, Banerjee A, Barac A, Baye E, Bennett DA, Beyene AS, Biadgilign S, Biryukov S, Bjertness E, Boneya DJ, Campos-Nonato I, Carrero JJ, Cecilio P, Cercy K, Ciobanu LG, Cornaby L, Damtew SA, Dandona L, Dandona R, Dharmaratne SD, Duncan BB, Eshrati B, Esteghamati A, Feigin VL, Fernandes JC, Fürst T, Gebrehiwot TT, Gold A, Gona PN, Goto A, Habtewold TD, Hadush KT, Hafezi-Nejad N, Hay SI, Horino M, Islami F, Kamal R, Kasaeian A, Katikireddi SV, Kengne AP, Kesavachandran CN, Khader YS, Khang Y-H, Khubchandani J, Kim D, Kim YJ, Kinfu Y, Kosen S, Ku T, Defo BK, Kumar GA, Larson HJ, Leinsalu

M, Liang X, Lim SS, Liu P, Lopez AD, Lozano R, Majeed A, Malekzadeh R, Malta DC, Mazidi M, McAlinden C, McGarvey ST, Mengistu DT, Mensah GA, Mensink GBM, Mezgebe HB, Mirrakhimov EM, Mueller UO, Noubiap JJ, Obermeyer CM, Ogbo FA, Owolabi MO, Patton GC, Pourmalek F, Qorbani M, Rafay A, Rai RK, Ranabhat CL, Reinig N, Safiri S, Salomon JA, Sanabria JR, Santos IS, Sartorius B, Sawhney M, Schmidhuber J, Schutte AE, Schmidt MI, Sepanlou SG, Shamsizadeh M, Sheikhbahaei S, Shin M-J, Shiri R, Shiue I, Roba HS, Silva DAS, Silverberg JI, Singh JA, Stranges S, Swaminathan S, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Tadese F, Tedla BA, Tegegne BS, Terkawi AS, Thakur JS, Tonelli M, Topor-Madry R, Tyrovolas S, Ukwaja KN, Uthman OA, Vaezghasemi M, Vasankari T, Vlassov VV, Vollset SE, Weiderpass E, Werdecker A, Wesana J, Westerman R, Yano Y, Yonemoto N, Yonga G, Zaidi Z, Zenebe ZM, Zipkin B, Murray CJL. Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years. *N Engl J Med*. 2017;377(1):13-27. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1614362

- 45. Körpermaße nach Altersgruppen und Geschlecht Statistisches Bundesamt. https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Gesundheit/Gesundheitszustand-Relevantes-Verhalten/Tabellen/liste-koerpermasse.html. Accessed January 20, 2020.
- 46. Vaisse C, Clement K, Guy-Grand B, Froguel P. A frameshift mutation in human MC4R is associated with a dominant form of obesity. *Nat Genet*. 1998;20(2):113-114. doi:10.1038/2407
- Yeo GS, Farooqi IS, Aminian S, Halsall DJ, Stanhope RG, O'Rahilly S. A frameshift mutation in MC4R associated with dominantly inherited human obesity. *Nat Genet.* 1998;20(2):111-112. doi:10.1038/2404
- 48. McDonald TJ, Ellard S. Maturity onset diabetes of the young: identification and diagnosis. *Ann Clin Biochem.* 2013;50(Pt 5):403-415. doi:10.1177/0004563213483458
- 49. Fortin J-P, Schroeder JC, Zhu Y, Beinborn M, Kopin AS. Pharmacological characterization of human incretin receptor missense variants. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2010;332(1):274-280. doi:10.1124/jpet.109.160531
- Saxena R, Hivert M-F, Langenberg C, Tanaka T, Pankow JS, Vollenweider P, Lyssenko V, 50. Bouatia-Naji N, Dupuis J, Jackson AU, Kao WHL, Li M, Glazer NL, Manning AK, Luan J, Stringham HM, Prokopenko I, Johnson T, Grarup N, Boesgaard TW, Lecoeur C, Shrader P, O'Connell J, Ingelsson E, Couper DJ, Rice K, Song K, Andreasen CH, Dina C, Köttgen A, Le Bacquer O, Pattou F, Taneera J, Steinthorsdottir V, Rybin D, Ardlie K, Sampson M, Qi L, van Hoek M, Weedon MN, Aulchenko YS, Voight BF, Grallert H, Balkau B, Bergman RN, Bielinski SJ, Bonnefond A, Bonnycastle LL, Borch-Johnsen K, Böttcher Y, Brunner E, Buchanan TA, Bumpstead SJ, Cavalcanti-Proença C, Charpentier G, Chen Y-DI, Chines PS, Collins FS, Cornelis M, J Crawford G, Delplangue J, Doney A, Egan JM, Erdos MR, Firmann M, Forouhi NG, Fox CS, Goodarzi MO, Graessler J, Hingorani A, Isomaa B, Jørgensen T, Kivimaki M, Kovacs P, Krohn K, Kumari M, Lauritzen T, Lévy-Marchal C, Mayor V, McAteer JB, Meyre D, Mitchell BD, Mohlke KL, Morken MA, Narisu N, Palmer CNA, Pakyz R, Pascoe L, Payne F, Pearson D, Rathmann W, Sandbaek A, Saver AA, Scott LJ, Sharp SJ, Sijbrands E, Singleton A, Siscovick DS, Smith NL, Sparsø T, Swift AJ, Syddall H, Thorleifsson G, Tönjes A, Tuomi T, Tuomilehto J, Valle TT, Waeber G, Walley A, Waterworth DM, Zeggini E, Zhao JH, GIANT consortium, MAGIC investigators, Illig T, Wichmann HE, Wilson JF, van Duijn C, Hu FB, Morris AD, Frayling TM, Hattersley AT, Thorsteinsdottir U, Stefansson K, Nilsson P, Syvänen A-C, Shuldiner AR, Walker M, Bornstein SR, Schwarz P, Williams GH, Nathan DM, Kuusisto J, Laakso M, Cooper C, Marmot M, Ferrucci L, Mooser V, Stumvoll M, Loos RJF, Altshuler D, Psaty BM, Rotter JI, Boerwinkle E, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Florez JC, McCarthy MI, Boehnke M, Barroso I, Sladek R, Froguel P, Meigs JB, Groop L, Wareham NJ, Watanabe RM. Genetic variation in GIPR influences the glucose and insulin responses to an oral glucose challenge. Nat Genet. 2010;42(2):142-148. doi:10.1038/ng.521
- 51. Jacobi SF, Khajavi N, Kleinau G, Teumer A, Scheerer P, Homuth G, Völzke H, Wiegand S, Kühnen P, Krude H, Gong M, Raile K, Biebermann H. Evaluation of a rare glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor variant in a patient with diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2019;21(5):1168-1176. doi:10.1111/dom.13634
- 52. Völzke H, Alte D, Schmidt CO, Radke D, Lorbeer R, Friedrich N, Aumann N, Lau K, Piontek M, Born G, Havemann C, Ittermann T, Schipf S, Haring R, Baumeister SE, Wallaschofski H, Nauck M, Frick S, Arnold A, Jünger M, Mayerle J, Kraft M, Lerch MM, Dörr M, Reffelmann T, Empen K, Felix SB, Obst A, Koch B, Gläser S, Ewert R, Fietze I, Penzel T, Dören M, Rathmann W, Haerting J, Hannemann M, Röpcke J, Schminke U, Jürgens C, Tost F, Rettig R, Kors JA, Ungerer S, Hegenscheid K, Kühn J-P, Kühn J, Hosten N, Puls R, Henke J, Gloger O, Teumer A, Homuth G, Völker U, Schwahn C, Holtfreter B, Polzer I, Kohlmann T, Grabe HJ, Rosskopf D, Kroemer HK, Kocher T, Biffar R, John U, Hoffmann W. Cohort profile: the study of health in Pomerania. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2011;40(2):294-307. doi:10.1093/ije/dyp394

- 53. Untergasser A, Cutcutache I, Koressaar T, Ye J, Faircloth BC, Remm M, Rozen SG. Primer3 new capabilities and interfaces. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2012;40(15):e115. doi:10.1093/nar/gks596
- 54. Mühlhaus J, Dinter J, Jyrch S, Teumer A, Jacobi SF, Homuth G, Kühnen P, Wiegand Š, Grüters A, Völzke H, Raile K, Kleinau G, Krude H, Biebermann H. Investigation of Naturally Occurring Single-Nucleotide Variants in Human TAAR1. *Front Pharmacol.* 2017;8:807. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00807
- 55. Fischer J, Kleinau G, Rutz C, Zwanziger D, Khajavi N, Müller A, Rehders M, Brix K, Worth CL, Führer D, Krude H, Wiesner B, Schülein R, Biebermann H. Evidence of G-protein-coupled receptor and substrate transporter heteromerization at a single molecule level. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* December 2017. doi:10.1007/s00018-017-2728-1
- 56. Tarnow P, Rediger A, Schulz A, Grüters A, Biebermann H. Identification of the translation start site of the human melanocortin 3 receptor. *Obes Facts*. 2012;5(1):45-51. doi:10.1159/000336070
- 57. Consortium T 1000 GP. A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature*. 2015;526(7571):68-74. doi:10.1038/nature15393
- 58. Lek M, Karczewski KJ, Minikel EV, Samocha KE, Banks E, Fennell T, O'Donnell-Luria AH, Ware JS, Hill AJ, Cummings BB, Tukiainen T, Birnbaum DP, Kosmicki JA, Duncan LE, Estrada K, Zhao F, Zou J, Pierce-Hoffman E, Berghout J, Cooper DN, Deflaux N, DePristo M, Do R, Flannick J, Fromer M, Gauthier L, Goldstein J, Gupta N, Howrigan D, Kiezun A, Kurki MI, Moonshine AL, Natarajan P, Orozco L, Peloso GM, Poplin R, Rivas MA, Ruano-Rubio V, Rose SA, Ruderfer DM, Shakir K, Stenson PD, Stevens C, Thomas BP, Tiao G, Tusie-Luna MT, Weisburd B, Won H-H, Yu D, Altshuler DM, Ardissino D, Boehnke M, Danesh J, Donnelly S, Elosua R, Florez JC, Gabriel SB, Getz G, Glatt SJ, Hultman CM, Kathiresan S, Laakso M, McCarroll S, McCarthy MI, McGovern D, McPherson R, Neale BM, Palotie A, Purcell SM, Saleheen D, Scharf JM, Sklar P, Sullivan PF, Tuomilehto J, Tsuang MT, Watkins HC, Wilson JG, Daly MJ, MacArthur DG, Exome Aggregation Consortium. Analysis of protein-coding genetic variation in 60,706 humans. *Nature*. 2016;536(7616):285-291. doi:10.1038/nature19057
- 59. Böselt I, Römpler H, Hermsdorf T, Thor D, Busch W, Schulz A, Schöneberg T. Involvement of the V2 vasopressin receptor in adaptation to limited water supply. *PLoS ONE*. 2009;4(5):e5573. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005573
- 60. Hinney A, Hohmann S, Geller F, Vogel C, Hess C, Wermter A-K, Brokamp B, Goldschmidt H, Siegfried W, Remschmidt H, Schäfer H, Gudermann T, Hebebrand J. Melanocortin-4 receptor gene: case-control study and transmission disequilibrium test confirm that functionally relevant mutations are compatible with a major gene effect for extreme obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2003;88(9):4258-4267. doi:10.1210/jc.2003-030233
- 61. Costagliola S, Panneels V, Bonomi M, Koch J, Many MC, Smits G, Vassart G. Tyrosine sulfation is required for agonist recognition by glycoprotein hormone receptors. *EMBO J.* 2002;21(4):504-513.
- 62. Reddy Chichili VP, Kumar V, Sivaraman J. Linkers in the structural biology of protein–protein interactions. *Protein Sci.* 2013;22(2):153-167. doi:10.1002/pro.2206
- 63. Horikawa Y. Maturity-onset diabetes of the young as a model for elucidating the multifactorial origin of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Diabetes Investig*. February 2018. doi:10.1111/jdi.12812
- 64. Coskun T, Sloop KW, Loghin C, Alsina-Fernandez J, Urva S, Bokvist KB, Cui X, Briere DA, Cabrera O, Roell WC, Kuchibhotla U, Moyers JS, Benson CT, Gimeno RE, D'Alessio DA, Haupt A. LY3298176, a novel dual GIP and GLP-1 receptor agonist for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus: From discovery to clinical proof of concept. *Mol Metab.* 2018;18:3-14. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2018.09.009
- 65. Finan B, Yang B, Ottaway N, Smiley DL, Ma T, Clemmensen C, Chabenne J, Zhang L, Habegger KM, Fischer K, Campbell JE, Sandoval D, Seeley RJ, Bleicher K, Uhles S, Riboulet W, Funk J, Hertel C, Belli S, Sebokova E, Conde-Knape K, Konkar A, Drucker DJ, Gelfanov V, Pfluger PT, Müller TD, Perez-Tilve D, DiMarchi RD, Tschöp MH. A rationally designed monomeric peptide triagonist corrects obesity and diabetes in rodents. *Nat Med.* 2015;21(1):27-36. doi:10.1038/nm.3761
- 66. Zhang Y, Sun B, Feng D, Hu H, Chu M, Qu Q, Tarrasch JT, Li S, Sun Kobilka T, Kobilka BK, Skiniotis G. Cryo-EM structure of the activated GLP-1 receptor in complex with a G protein. *Nature*. 2017;546(7657):248-253. doi:10.1038/nature22394
- Chambers JC, Abbott J, Zhang W, Turro E, Scott WR, Tan S-T, Afzal U, Afaq S, Loh M, Lehne B, O'Reilly P, Gaulton KJ, Pearson RD, Li X, Lavery A, Vandrovcova J, Wass MN, Miller K, Sehmi J, Oozageer L, Kooner IK, Al-Hussaini A, Mills R, Grewal J, Panoulas V, Lewin AM, Northwood K, Wander GS, Geoghegan F, Li Y, Wang J, Aitman TJ, McCarthy MI, Scott J, Butcher S, Elliott P, Kooner JS. The South Asian genome. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9(8):e102645. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102645

68. Schelshorn D, Joly F, Mutel S, Hampe C, Breton B, Mutel V, Lütjens R. Lateral allosterism in the glucagon receptor family: glucagon-like peptide 1 induces G-protein-coupled receptor heteromer formation. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2012;81(3):309-318. doi:10.1124/mol.111.074757

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

"Ich, Simon Friedrich Jacobi, versichere an Eides statt durch meine eigenhändige Unterschrift, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertation mit dem Thema: "Evaluation of a Rare Glucose-Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide Receptor Variant in a Patient with Diabetes" selbstständig und ohne nicht offengelegte Hilfe Dritter verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel genutzt habe.

Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder dem Sinne nach auf Publikationen oder Vorträgen anderer Autoren/innen beruhen, sind als solche in korrekter Zitierung kenntlich gemacht. Die Abschnitte zu Methodik (insbesondere praktische Arbeiten, Laborbestimmungen, statistische Aufarbeitung) und Resultaten (insbesondere Abbildungen, Graphiken und Tabellen) werden von mir verantwortet.

Ich versichere ferner, dass ich die in Zusammenarbeit mit anderen Personen generierten Daten, Datenauswertungen und Schlussfolgerungen korrekt gekennzeichnet und meinen eigenen Beitrag sowie die Beiträge anderer Personen korrekt kenntlich gemacht habe (siehe Anteilserklärung). Texte oder Textteile, die gemeinsam mit anderen erstellt oder verwendet wurden, habe ich korrekt kenntlich gemacht.

Meine Anteile an etwaigen Publikationen zu dieser Dissertation entsprechen denen, die in der untenstehenden gemeinsamen Erklärung mit dem/der Erstbetreuer/in, angegeben sind. Für sämtliche im Rahmen der Dissertation entstandenen Publikationen wurden die Richtlinien des ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors; <u>www.icmje.og</u>) zur Autorenschaft eingehalten. Ich erkläre ferner, dass ich mich zur Einhaltung der Satzung der Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin zur Sicherung Guter Wissenschaftlicher Praxis verpflichte.

Weiterhin versichere ich, dass ich diese Dissertation weder in gleicher noch in ähnlicher Form bereits an einer anderen Fakultät eingereicht habe.

Die Bedeutung dieser eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unwahren eidesstattlichen Versicherung (§§156, 161 des Strafgesetzbuches) sind mir bekannt und bewusst."

Datum

Unterschrift

Ausführliche Anteilserklärung an der erfolgten Publikation

Publikation:

Jacobi, S.F., Khajavi, N., Kleinau, G., Teumer, A., Scheerer, P., Homuth, G., Völzke, H., Wiegand, S., Kühnen, P., Krude, H., Biebermann, H. (2019). Evaluation of a rare glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor variant in a patient with diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab

Eigener Beitrag von Jacobi, SF zur Publikation im Einzelnen:

- Planung und Konzeption der Studie, Literaturrecherche zum Thema GIPR (zusammen mit Biebermann, H)
- Aussuchen der Study Population 1
- Datenauswertung für und Erstellen von Figure 1 und Supplementary Table 1
- Aussuchen der Study Population 2 (Hauptanteil, zusammen mit Raile, K und Biebermann, H)
- Datenauswertung für und Erstellen von Table 1 und Table 2
- Extraktion der DNA aus EDTA-Blut für Study Population 1 und 2
- Etablierung der PCR inklusive Design der Primer f
 ür GIPR zum Screening der Study Population 1 und 2
- Vorversuche der funktionellen Untersuchungen (Hauptanteil, zusammen mit Khajavi, N und Biebermann, H, Daten nicht in Paper)
- Klonierung der Funktionelle Assays und daraus Daten f
 ür Figure 2 A und B (zusammen mit Khajavi, N und Biebermann, H)
- Interpretation der Daten und Diskussion der Ergebnisse des Screenings, der funktionellen Daten (Hauptanteil, zusammen mit Biebermann, H)
- Interpretation der Daten aus der SHIP-Kohorte sowie der Ergebnisse des GIPR-Modelings (zusammen mit den Co-Autoren)
- Konzeption und Entwurf des Manuskripts (Hauptanteil, zusammen mit Biebermann, H)
- Schreiben des Manuskripts (Hauptanteil, zusammen mit Co-Autoren)
- Erstellen der Revisionen (Hauptanteil, zusammen mit Co-Autoren)

Unterschrift, Datum und Stempel der erstbetreuenden Hochschullehrerin

Unterschrift des Doktoranden

Auszug aus der Journal Summary List (ISI Web of Knowledge)

Journal Data Filtered By: Selected JCR Year: 2017 Selected Editions: SCIE,SSCI Selected Categories: "ENDOCRINOLOGY and METABOLISM" Selected Category Scheme: WoS Gesamtanzahl: 143 Journale

Rank	Full Journal Title	Total Cites	Journal Impact Factor	Eigenfactor Score
1	Cell Metabolism	29,834	20.565	0.101740
2	Nature Reviews Endocrinology	7,377	20.265	0.025190
3	Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology	5,549	19.313	0.029810
4	ENDOCRINE REVIEWS	12,975	15.545	0.009920
5	DIABETES CARE	67,278	13.397	0.110140
6	JOURNAL OF PINEAL RESEARCH	9,079	11.613	0.008600
7	TRENDS IN ENDOCRINOLOGY AND METABOLISM	8,362	10.769	0.019900
8	Obesity Reviews	10,241	8.483	0.023840
9	THYROID	11,570	7.557	0.020730
10	DIABETES	53,645	7.273	0.074690
11	FRONTIERS IN NEUROENDOCRINOLOGY	3,924	6.875	0.006040
12	ANTIOXIDANTS & REDOX SIGNALING	19,324	6.530	0.032120
13	JOURNAL OF BONE AND MINERAL RESEARCH	26,804	6.314	0.036920
14	Molecular Metabolism	2,403	6.291	0.012250
15	JOURNAL OF CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW AND METABOLISM	19,450	6.045	0.028280
16	DIABETOLOGIA	28,810	6.023	0.048370
17	FREE RADICAL BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE	40,089	6.020	0.043060
18	DIABETES OBESITY & METABOLISM	8,680	5.980	0.022060
19	METABOLISM-CLINICAL AND EXPERIMENTAL	13,117	5.963	0.016570
20	JOORNAL OF CLINICAL ENDOCRINOLOGY & METABOLISM	78 047	5 789	0 104690
20	ENDOCRINE-RELATED CANCER	7.114	5 331	0.012410
21	Cardiovascular Diabetology	4 796	5 235	0.01241
23	INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF OBESITY	22,185	5.151	0.03204

Druckexemplar der ausgewählten Publikation

Jacobi SF, Khajavi N, Kleinau G, Teumer A, Scheerer P, Homuth G, Völzke H, Wiegand S, Kühnen P, Krude H, Gong M, Raile K, Biebermann H. Evaluation of a rare glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor variant in a patient with diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2019;21(5):1168-1176. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13634

Lebenslauf

Mein Lebenslauf wird aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen in der elektronischen Version meiner Arbeit nicht veröffentlicht.

Vollständige Publikationsliste

Jacobi SF, Khajavi N, Kleinau G, Teumer A, Scheerer P, Homuth G, Völzke H, Wiegand S, Kühnen P, Krude H, Gong M, Raile K, Biebermann H. Evaluation of a rare glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor variant in a patient with diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* February 2019. doi:10.1111/dom.13634 Impact Factor: 6.72

Schanze N, **Jacobi SF**, Rijntjes E, Mergler S, Del Olmo M, Hoefig CS, Khajavi N, Lehmphul I, Biebermann H, Mittag J, Köhrle J. 3-Iodothyronamine Decreases Expression of Genes Involved in Iodide Metabolism in Mouse Thyroids and Inhibits Iodide Uptake in PCCL3 Thyrocytes. *Thyroid.* 2017;27(1):11-22. doi:10.1089/thy.2016.0182 Impact Factor: 5.52

Mühlhaus J, Dinter J, Jyrch S, Teumer A, **Jacobi SF**, Homuth G, Kühnen P, Wiegand S, Grüters A, Völzke H, Raile K, Kleinau G, Krude H, Biebermann H. Investigation of Naturally Occurring Single-Nucleotide Variants in Human TAAR1. *Front Pharmacol.* 2017;8:807. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00807 Impact Factor: 3.68

Dinter J, Mühlhaus J, **Jacobi SF**, Wienchol CL, Cöster M, Meister J, Hoefig CS, Müller A, Köhrle J, Grüters A, Krude H, Mittag J, Schöneberg T, Kleinau G, Biebermann H. 3iodothyronamine differentially modulates α-2A-adrenergic receptor-mediated signaling. *J Mol Endocrinol.* 2015;54(3):205-216. doi:10.1530/JME-15-0003 Impact Factor: 3.58

Hoefig CS, **Jacobi SF**, Warner A, Harder L, Schanze N, Vennström B, Mittag J. 3-Iodothyroacetic acid lacks thermoregulatory and cardiovascular effects in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2015;172(13):3426-3433. doi:10.1111/bph.13131 Impact Factor: 6.81

Danksagung

Mein großer Dank gilt Prof. Dr. Heike Biebermann für die Überlassung des Dissertationsthemas, für die Heranführung an wissenschaftliches Arbeiten, für die tolle Betreuung und für die Geduld beim Erstellen der Publikation und der Dissertation. Ebenso möchte ich der ganzen Arbeitsgruppe und allen Kolleginnen und Kollegen am Institut für Experimentelle Pädiatrische Endokrinologie der Charité für die prägende gemeinsame Zeit in Berlin danken. Insbesondere Sabine und Cigdem waren stets eine große Hilfe bei allen Labortätigkeiten.

Bei allen Kooperationspartnern und Co-Autoren bedanke ich mich für den anregenden wissenschaftlichen Austausch und die produktive Zusammenarbeit. Prof. Dr. Josef Köhrle hat als Leiter des DFG Graduiertenkollegs 1208 und als Organisator der Summer School on Endocrinology in Bregenz einen wertvollen Teil zur Weiterbildung während meiner Dissertation beigetragen.

Zuletzt gilt mein besonderer Dank meiner Freundin Nancy für ihre hilfreichen Kommentare zur Dissertation, für ihren ungebrochenen Optimismus und ihre andauernde Unterstützung. Meinem Bruder Felix, meinen Eltern Ulrike und Gerhart sowie allen meinen Freunden danke ich für den immerwährenden Rückhalt während Studium, Doktorarbeit und Berufsbeginn.